CHAPMAN v. USA Doc. 24

In the nited States Court of Federal Claims

No. 09-440C
(Filed: May 18 2010)

kkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkhkkkkhkkkkkkkkkkkk

JAMES J. CHAPMAN, Judgment on Administrative Record;
Military Discharge; Coast Guard Board for
Correction of Military Records; Weight
Manual; Personnel Manual; Physical
Disability Discharge; Administrative
Separation; Eating Disorder; Underlying
Medical Condition; Weight Loss Probation;
Reasonable and Consistent Progress

Plaintiff,
V.
THE UNITED STATES,

Defendant.

* F X ok 4 g % ¥ 4 F x

kkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkhkkhkkhkkhkkkkkkkkkhkkhkk

Raymond J. Toneyhe Law Office of Raymond J. Toney, Woodland, CA, Counsel of Record
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Branch, ad Tony WestAssistant Attorney General, United States Department of Justice; Of
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OPINION AND JUDGMENT ON THE ADMINISTRATIVE RECORD

DAMICH, Judge.

Thisis an action on cross motions for judgment on the administrative repardyant to
Rule 52.1 of the Rules of the Court of Federal Claims (“RCFC”), regarding decisithes of
Coast Guard Board for Correction of Military Records (“BCMR” or “Boattiatupheldthe
Coast Guard’s 2005 administrative separation of Mr. Chapman for failure to contiphyewght
and body fat standards.

For the reasons stated below, Defendant’s motion for judgment on the administrative
record is granted and Plaintiff's crossstion is denied.

! Defendant also moved to dismiss, for lack of jurisdiction aildre to state a claim, Counbt Plaintiff's
Complaint, challenging the decisiomaking process of the BCMR. In his cramstion, Plaintiff advised that he
does not oppose dismissal of Couahd it is hereby dismissed.
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1. Background

Plaintiff James J. Chapman enlisted in the United States Coast Guard on July 28, 1986.
AR90. His administrative discharge was effectuated on September 27, 2005. AR90.

Mr. Chapman had been assigned in October 2004 to the Coast GuardViaaktieraw.
Amend. Compl. § 28. On March 9, 2005, Mr. Chapman’s Executive Officer (“EQ”), in an
Administrative Remarks” form (also known as a “Page 7”), documented various command
concerns about his “poor judgemésit] and failure toéad by example.” Among other
concerns, he was advised about his current weight:

You have had an ongoing struggle meeting the Coast Guard
weight/body fat standards. Presently it appears that you exceed the
body fat standards. Per the 23AUG04 Page 7 from the CO of
enlisted personnel at the CG academy you were counseled on your
responsibility to maintain weight or body fat standards and that
exceeding thas standards could result in ybaing processed for
discharge. You have been counseled since yowahly your

Master Chief regarding your failure to comply with standards.

You will be weighed on 01Apr05 for compliance with weight
standards.

AR750.

On April 6, 2005, after being measured and weighed in the course of standard
procedures, Mr. Chapman was found to weigh 259 pounds with a body fat percentage of 33%.
AR61; Amend. Compl. 1 30. His height was measured at 68 and % inches. AR&ID His
completed a Command Referral Form, by which Mr. Chapman was referred to a routieal
to determine whether it was medically safe for him to lose weightThe Command Referral
Form indicated that he was 70 pounds overweight and that his bodygégtabilitywas just
25%.

On April 8, 2005, Mr. Chapman’BO, in a “Page 7,’advised Plaintiff of his excess
weight and body fat, directed him to lose 70 pounds and 8% body fat by November 8, 2005, and
advised him that failure to obtain weight and baatycompliance by the end bis probationary
period would subject him to separation from the Coast Guard. AR62. Mr. Chapman signed the
Administrative Remarks, acknowledging his commander’s entry and noting thad teeén
afforded an opportunity to review “COMDTINST M1020.8 (serié¢jthe Weight Manual”)
and understood the action requirdd.

2 These facts are taken from the parties’ motions and the@&dd administrative record. References to the
administrative record are cited herein in the form of “AR__ " (page number).

¥ COMDTINST (short for “Commandant Instruction”) M1020.8 is entitf&leight/Physical Standards for Coast

Guard Military Personnel.’SeePl.’s CrossMot. for J. on the Administrative R. and Opp’n to Def.’s Mot. for J. on
the Administrative R. (“Pl.’s Crosklot.”), Enclosure 1.
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On April 13, 2005, Mr. Chapman was seen by Dr. Roderick Baltzer, the physician
contracted by the Coast Guard. Amend. Compl. { 32. Dr. Baltzer prescriljmoketitea
suppressant, Phentermine, and an exercise prodtante also completed his portion of the
Command Referral Form, attesting that it was safe for Mr. Chapman to loseéss &eight
and that there was no underlying condition explaining his excess weight and no agderlyi
condition that would make fitness activities detrimental to his health. AR61; Amerdeol .C]
33.

On April 27, 2005, Mr. ChapmanEO prepared another Page 7 counseling form,
criticizing him for displaying “a lackadaisicattiude” toward his weight loss program and
advising him that, if he did not make “reasonable and consistent progress” tovgtnt anel
body fat loss by the migoint of his probationary period, he would be processed for separation.
ARG63. In the April 27 Page 7, th#O notedthatMr. Chapman had been remindadViarchto
weigh in on April 1 and was given “specific tasking” to comply with weight stalsd@haily
exercise, weekly weighn, and “continual progress”)is EO noted that his weight was 260
pounds as of April 25. It was also noted that Mr. Chapman acknowledged not having read the
Navy fithess manual, as had been suggested to him, nor had he yet filled out a detsed f
plan as requiredid.

Shortly thereafter, having assumed the duties of Supply Officer, on May 16, 2005, Mr.
Chapman prepared and submitted a “relief letter” to his commander notingriaésien the
cutter’s procurement procedures and discrepancies in tharfdierecorekeeping systemThe
deficiencies included an allegation that cutter personnel had used government pooperty
personal use. Amended Compl. § 36.

On May 31, 2005, Mr. Chapmaeported to Dr. Baltzer that he was experiencing
“tingling” in his left hand. Amended Comg].38. Dr. Baltzer noted, “In actuality, the patient’s
primary complaint is that he gets aching in the left interscapular area andehs besneck
posteriorly when he is doing an elliptical workout.” AR203. Dr. Baltzer directaddistop
taking the Phentermine, cease “strenuous activity,” and undergo cardiac téstiagded
Compl. T 38; AR295. On June 10, he underwent an EKG and on June 23 took a “stress
cardiolite” test. Amended Compl. 11 39, 40; AR295, 219, 220. Based on those results, he had
an echocardiogram on July 11, 2005. AR 221-22. On July 22, 2005, his cardiologist concluded
that his heart was normalespite “mild hyperkinesisgnd that it was safe to resume exercise
and dieting without restriction. Amended Compl. 42; AR 227-28.

Mr. Chapman’€0 had completed another Page 7 on June 14, in which he noted, “As of
13JUNOS you are 11 weeks into your mandatory 33 week weight loss period and you weighed
247 pounds. To date your weifgic] loss has not been substantive enough to achieve the
mandatory weight loss. You have 5 weeks until mid period evaluation.” AR756. Mr. Chapman,
however, declined to sign this statement. Instead, he offered his command a rengsetof
the Page 7, which would have acknowledged a correction of the ending date of his probationary
period, to December 8, 2005. AR 10 (Final Decision in BCMR Docket No. 2006-054,Iat 7).
the proposed revision, Mr. Chapman proposed a recitation that his weight as of June 6 was “248
pounds and [he] was at 30.5% body fat percentage.” It also would have read that, “Tliese res
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show a loss of 11 pounds and a 2.5% body fat percentage during this period. This exceeds the
1% body fat per month requirements to demonstrate reasonable and consistent ogress a
defined in the reference.” AR217. Apparently, this proposed revision to the June 14 Page 7 was
not agreed to by his commander, because there is no signature on the form.

On July 6, 2005, Mr. Chapman requested retirdrirem Coast Guardervice effective
on September 1 of 2006. His request was approved on July 8, 2005. AR10.

On July 25, Mr. Chapman reported to the cutter’s health services specialist thas
still experiencing various discomforts and pain, including shortness of breaghefaind lack
of concentration, and expressed concern about his current antttongtate of health. He
advised that he would resume his daily workouts, but had “strong reservations coné¢esning t
prior to confirmation of m medical status and physical abilitiefAmended Compl.  45;
AR229.

On July 27, he filed an informal complaint against his command with the District Civil
Rights Officer, allegedly that he was being unfairly singled out and dis&iplAmended
Compl. 1 46; AR158-60.

On July 28, hi€O prepared another Pagenbting that higprobationary period ending
date wadeingcorrected Rather than an end date of November 8, 2005, the correct end date
should have been December 13, 2005. Hispeided datevas then recited as being August 1,
2005 AR 132.

On August 1, hevas weighed and measured by his unit's Health Services Technician.
His weight was 254; his body fat was 30%. AR 130, 177-178. His “Weight and Body Fat
Progress” chart, AR178, shows that from April 4 to May 30, just prior to his cessation of
“strenuous activity” and Phentermine as directed by Dr. Baltzer, Mr. Chpimady fat
percentage had declined from 33% to 30.6%; his weight had decreased from 259 pounds to 253
pounds. From June 6 to July 25, the date on whichaseadvised that heuald resumeegular
exercise AR65, 228, despite his “strong reservations,” AR229, his body fat irectdasn
30.5% to 31%; his weight increased from 248 pounds to 255 pounds. AR178.

On August 2, Mr. Chapman’s commanding officer, Captain McGuiness, advised him by
memorandum that he was initiating action to discharge Mr. Chapman from the Coaktdguar
having “failed to maintain reasonable and consistent progress” during his prohatienght
loss period. Amended Compl. § 51; AR67. On August 4, Mr. Chapman submitted a formal
EEO complaint memorandum to his commander, pursuant to guidance he had received from his
Equal Opportunity Advisor in response to his informal complaint lodged on July 27. AR 156-57.
On August 7, Mr. Chapman submitted a statement in response to his commanding officer’s
decision to separate hjralleging several miscalculations in the weight loss and probation period
record asserted against him, rebutting certdithe measurements in the record, noting that his

* Pursuant to the Weight Manual, see 11224, 5, Plaintiff's probationary period properly is calculated at 8
months, beginning on April 13, 2005 (the date of the medical exam ragt#ssit it was safe for him to lose weight).
The midpoint of the 8month period would have been August 12, 2005
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cardiac problems had slowed his weight loss progress, and requesting that higelisehar
denied and that, if his discharge were to be denied, that his weight probationary pdred in
abeyance ntil all of his medical issues were identifieAR69-70.

On August 10, Mr. Chapman was again weighed and measured by his unit’'s Health
Services Technician. His weight was 250; his body fat was 32%. On the same dd®e, his E
prepared another Page 7, noting his weight and body fat, concluding that he had failed to
maintain reasonable and consistent progress, and notifying him that he was lwmgeaded
for separation. AR72. Captain McGuiness replied on August 12 to Mr. Chapman’s statement
for retention AR75-77. The Acting Coast Guard District Commander endorsed the separation
recommendation on the same date. AR74. On August 30, Coast Guard Personnel Command
issued its order that Mr. Chapman be discharged no later than September 27, 2005, djre to wei
control failure. Amended Compl. § 64; AR801.

Coast Guard personnel — outside of his Mackinaw commanmepertedmeasurements
of Mr. Chapman, taken August 11, August 19, September 1, September 2, and September 12,
indicating more favorable weight and body fat loSee AR236238, 281-283.

In addition to his formal EEO complaint of August 4, Mr. Chapman also submitted a
relief request pursuant to Article 138 of the Uniform Code of Military Jusboeplaining that
his commanding officer was utilizing the weight program “in an attempt to rérhawnerom
the Coast Guard due to his July 27 harassment complaint and his May 16 identification of
improper procurement procedures. AR194-200. On September 20, 2005, the District
Commander denied his request for relief under Article 138. Am. Compl. T 73.

On September 13, his command ordered him to undergo a hydrostatic test for body fat
percentage. AR285. His body fat was reported as 37.7%.

He was honorably discharged on September 27, 2005, for weight control failure.
Amended Compl. 1 79; AR9O0.

On January 23, 2006, Mr. Chapman applied to the Coast Guard BEMR to vacate
his discharge and reinstate himaitiive duty or taorrect his military recordsawarding him
constructive credit for servicgo as to allow him to retingith 20 years of service. AR97-105.
On November 2, 2006, the BCMR found no error or injustice and denied relief. AR4-29. On
November 28, 2007, Mr. Chapman requested reconsideration of its earlier decision on various
grounds. AR403-419. The Chair of the BCMR granted reconsideration on the grounds that the
initial record had not reflected the instructions of Dr. Baltadvir. Chapman to cease taking the
appetitesuppressant medication and to cease strenuous activity until cleared by ithlegard
inquiry. AR296. The Chair of the BCMR denied reconsideration relatingatotiffis
arguments based on a diagisdse receivedah 1995 of “obesity [with] compulsive overeating.”
AR294, 296. The BCMR'’s final decision on reconsideration was issued on January 22, 2009,
denying relief and finding that Mr. Chapman had “not prove[n] by a preponderance of the
evidence that the Gst Guard committed error or injustice when it discharged him for weight
control failure on September 27, 2005.” AR306.



Plaintiff filed his amended complaint in this court on August 13, 2009. Final briefing on
the crosanotions for judgment on the administrative record was completed on March 15, 2010.

. Jurisdiction

Plaintiff has stated elaim under the Military Pay Act, 37 U.S.C. § 204(a), to correct his
service records teeflect retirementvith 20 years of active service and for related baak,
allowances, and benefits. Pursuant to the Tucker Bejutisdiction of the United StatéSourt
of Federal Claims encompass#aims “against the United States founded either upon the
Constitution, or any Act of Congress or any regulation of an executive depgrtmapon any
express or implied contract with the United States, or for liquidated or unliquidated)es in
cases not sounding in tort.” 28 U.S.C. § 1491(a)(1). The Court’s Tucker Act jurisdiction,
however, “requires not only a claim against the United States, but also rehagsed on
principles of ‘sovereign immunity,” that there be a separate morangdating statute the
violation of which supports a claim for damages against the United StateBey v. United
States 124 F.3d 1462, 1465 (Fed. Cir. 1997). “It is vesitablished thdthe Military Pay Act]
serves as the moneyandating statute applicable to military personnel claiming damages and
ancillary relief for wrongful discharge . . . If the discharge was wronp&uktatutoryight to
pay continues; this right serves as the basis for Tucker Act jurisdictidn See also Dolan v.
United States91 Fed. Cl. 111, 117 (2010).

I, Standard of Review

The parties have filed crossotions for judgment on the administrative record, pursuant
to RCFC 52.1. RCFC 52.1 provides a procedure for parties to seek the equivalent of an
expedited trial on a “paper record, allowing féiotling by the trial court.”"Bannum v. United
States404 F.3d 1346, 1356 (Fed. Cir. 200Bglan, 91 Fed. Cl. at 117-18. Questions of fact are
resolved by reference to the administrative rec@annum 404 F.3d at 1356/Valls v. United
States 582 F.3d 1358, 1368 (2009).

It is well settled that it is not the province of the court to determine who is fit, or not fit,
to serve in the armed forceBleisig v. United Stateg19 F.2d 1153, 1156 (Fed. Cir. 1988).
reviewing the determinations of a military corrections boanalaintiff must demonstrate “by
cogent and clearly convincing evidenc@/fonke v. Marsh787 F.2d 1569, 1576 (Fed. Cir.
1986), that the board’s determination was “arbitrary, capricious, contrary to lanswapported
by substantial evidence.Barnick v. United State$91 F.3d 1372, 1377 (Fed. Cir. 2010).

In the course of its reviewhe ®urt does not sit as “a super correction boafkinner v.
United States594 F.2d 824, 830 (Ct. Cl. 1979). Rathke &gency decision is generally entitled
to substantial deferencé&/an Cleave v. United State&) Fed. Cl. 674, 678 (2006)When
substantial evidence supports a board’s action, and when that action is reasorgiilefial
the evidence presented, the court will not disturb the reshtige v United Statesl6 CI. Ct.

637, 641 (1989). The court’s review “does not require a reweighing of the evidence, but a
determination whethehe conclusion being reviewésisupported by substantial evidence.”
Heisig 719 F.2d at 1157Furthermorethere is a “presumption of regularity that attaches to all
administrative decisions.Richey v. United State822 F.3d 1317, 1326 (Fed. Cir. 2003). To
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prevail here, Plaintiff must overcome “the strong, but rebuttable, presumpticadthatistrators
of the military, like other public officers, discharge their duties correalyfully, and in good
faith.” Doe v. United Stated432 F.3d 1430, 1434 (Fed. Cir. 1997) (quo@amders v. United
States594 F.2d 804, 813 (Ct. CI. 1979).

Nevertheless, a coumay find a correction board’s decision to be arbitrary and
capricious “if the board fails to consider an important aspect of a problens affexplanation
for its decision that runs counter to the evidence before the board, or ‘is so ibiplueit
could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of agency expetiae. Cleave
70 Fed. Cl. at 679 (quotingotor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n. State Farm Mut. Ins. Ga163 U.S. 29,
43 (1983)). When a corrections board fails to redressdrclajustice,” its decision is arbitrary
and capricious and must be overturned on reviBayer v. United State81 Fed. Cl. 188, 194
(2008). As Plaintiff properly notes, the military has an obligation to follow its owregdtoes.
“The military no less than any other organ of the government is bound by statute, mmhene
granted unfettered discretion by Congress the military ahige by its own procedural
regulations should it choose to promulgate thetitidsay v. United State895 F.3d 1252, 1257
(Fed. Cir. 2002).

V. Discussion
A. Decision of the BCNR

In his initial application to the BCMR for reinstatement or for constructiedit for
active duty service suffient to entitle him to retirevith 20 years of service, Mr. Chapman made
several arguments. He claimed that he had “oscillated in and out of werghdrsis since his
entry upon active duty and that the Coast Guard had “condoned for 19 years his marghtal weig
performance.” It was therefore inequitable to separate him in his lastfys=sawice, given that
his weight did not keep from superior performance, and itc@agary to‘common decency.”
He argued also #t the initiation of discharge proceedings was “reprisal” both for his May 16,
2005, relief letter and for his August 4, 2005, EEO complaint. Furthermore, he maintained that
his discharge was procedurally flawed in that his probationary period had beepenhpr
calculated, by both start date and concluding date (and that therefore sepai@ticnhis
probationary midpoint date was premature and pretextual); that the only measurement process
authorized by Coast Guard regulations for body fat wasnegasurement, not hydrostatic
testing; thaseparation for “obesity,” pursuant to the Personnel Manual, required that a doctor
first attest in writing that his obesity was due to food or beverage intatehat he should have
been given the opportunity of a separation hearing. AR97-105.

The Board’s summary of Mr. Chapman’s record indicates that he had previously been
placed on weight probation in 1992, 1993, 1998, 2000, 2001, 2002, and 2003. AR6. He was
warned each time about the possibility of discharge on account of his weight and he achieved
compliance through a combination of diet and exerdde.In January 2004, he was again put
on weight probation and given permission to undertake elective “abdominoplasty/lipasuct
surgery in July 2004. AR7. According to the Board summary, “In August 2004, the applicant
weighed 244 pounds but was deemed to have met requirements because his body fat was
measured at 25%.1d. In an email to a Coast Guard assignment coordinator in which he
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requested trasfer to the Mackinaw, Mr. Chapman “apologize[d] for the trouble | have caused
the CG and [the assignment] office with my weight issues and hope that the coseimey
that | had perfoned and funded will ensure no further appearances on the Weight Prodggam

The Board’s decision summarized the regulations applicable to Mr. Chapman’s
application. AR20-22. Among the relevant provisionshef€Coast Guard’s Weight Manual
were the following: Article 2.E.3 provides that a member with an “underlying rakdic
condition” that limits participation in a specific portion of his fithess assessmerdusezk
“from only that portion of the fitness assessment”; Article 2.E.4 providgsatimember with an
underlying medical condition that makes fitness activities detrimental to his Feeatit
responsible for meeting MAW [maximum allowable weight] standards within the tienelithe
probationary period”; Article 2.F.1 stipulates that the probationary period cannod déegond
a maximum period of 36 weeks; the calculation of the probationary period, per &rkcle is
the amount of time it would take for the member to lose excess weight at an aveyage of
pound per week or one percent body fat per month, whichever is greater; Article 2.F\ehowe
provides that if by botlealculatiors (weight andody fat) the member’s probationary period
would extend beyond 36 weeks, the member “shall be” processed for separation24ttkele
provides that if one calculation would extend beyond 36 weeks and one less than 36 weeks, the
member’s probationary period shall be assigned as the lesser period; urder2&#t3, if a
doctor determines that the member has a medical conditippréheents him from losing weight
or body fat at the prescribed rate, his commanding officer “may” requesispemnto stay the
running of the period; Article 2.F.6 provides that members should demonstrate “reasomibl
consistent progress” toward their weight goals during probagpegifically includingpy way
of examplelosing “approximately half of the required weight or half the excess pereeotag
body fat by the midpoint of the probationary period”; Article 3.A.2 providesniggmbers
determned to be in a “notit -for-full-duty status” for 30 days or fewer “shall” have their
probationary period held in abeyance, provided they have a physician’s staternira tha
physical condition precludes weight loss.

Last, Article 12.B.12.a.10 of the Personnel Manual provides that a member may be
discharged for the convenience of the government due to obesity, “provided a memieal off
certifies a proximate cause of the obesity is excessive voluntary witéed or drink, rather
than an organic or other similar cause apparently beyond the member’'s conR@2. A

The Board disagreed with Mr. Chapman’s claim that the Coast Guard had condoned his
excess weight, pointing out that he had “habitually and firmly” been required ta regai
compliance eachrme and warned of the possibility of separation if he failed. ARD3 Board
also rejected his claim of dischardee to retaliation. Mr. Chapman had lost only 5 of 70
pounds at nearly the midpoint of his probationary period, his command’s actionewas th
continuation of counseling that had begun 10 months prior, and that even the statement of a
supportive crewmate corroborated a finding that Mr. Chapman’s dischargelated te his
lack of progress on weight reduction rather than retaliation fdetts noting procurement
deficiencies or for his EEO complaind. As to procedural deficiencies, the Board determined
that Mr. Chapman was not prejudiced by the initial inaccuracy of the end date of his
probationary period. AR24. In addition, doctors had certified on April 13, July 22, and August
10 on Command Referral Forms that Mr. Chapman had no underlying medical condition causing
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his excess weight and that it was safe for him to exercise and lose wdigBpecifically, the
Board found that, although Command Referral Form language did not mirror the language
Article 12.B.12.a.10 of the Personnel Manual regarding proximate cause of obegity due
excessive voluntary intake of food and drink, “the purpose and meaning of tfieatem
provided on the formvyag sufficient to meet the requirements of the Personnel Manigl.”

With regard to Mr. Chapman’s underlying claim that his probationary period should have
been suspended, the Board found thare was insufficient evidenae the record proving that
he had been instructed by his doctor to stop dieting and exerighigen Mr. Chapman’s
weight and body fat calculation on August 1, 2005, 254 pounds and 30% body fat, and on
August 10, 250 pounds and 32% body fat, the Board sustained the conclusion of his
commanding officer that he was not making “reasonable and consistent progress.thé&
hydrostatic testing on September 13, performed in response to Mr. Chapman’s continued
complaints, the Board found that it was authorized pursuant to Article 3.C.2 of the Weight
Manual, granting the Commandant “final authority for procedural and polieyrdetations” in
“unique conditions” where “special consideration is warrantd&l.’s CrossMot., Encl. lat 32.

The Board alséound that a member is not entitled to a hearing before an administrative
discharge board when he is discharged due to weight control failure. AR27.

On November 2, 2006, the Board issued its “Final Decision” denying Mr. Chapman’s
application. AR4-29.

B. Decision of the BCNR on Reconsideration

Mr. Chapman filed an application for reconsideration of the BCNR Final Decision on
November 28, 2007. He sought reconsideration based on two arguments. First, although
acknowledging that he had not raised this matter in his original application,usel dhgit he had
been diagnosed by the Coast Guard in 1995 with an eating disorder, “Compulsive Overeating
which he describes aschronic medical conditioinat impeded his ability to manage his weight
and body fat. AR405-406. In 1998, he was directed to undergo, and he completed, intensive
treatment for his weight disorderahaval hospital addiction clinic. AR40&1e had also been
diagnosed with depression and anxidty. His command was awarer should hee been
aware,of his medical recordld. He avers heshould have been referred for a physical disability
evaluation and he could not be discharged for his weight control failure “whdreaine
conditions are an underlying cause of the failure.” AR413.

In addition, Mr. Chapman provided evidence that Dr. Baltzer had indeed directed him to
stop exercising in the early summer of 2005 pending the detgromrof his cardiac condition.
He argues thaherefore his command should have suspdiis probationary period and “there
is no reason to conclude that he would not have achieved his weight and body fat limitgtions” b
the time of an end date adjusted accordingly. AR417.

® This finding was the basis on which Mr. Chapman was subsequentlydyrantmsideration by the BCMRSee
infra.



The Board chaigranted reconsideraticolelyon the question whether the Board would
have reached a different conclusion if it had had Dr. Baltzer’s letter in ther eadord. It did
not grant reconsideration on the issue of his compulsive eating diageoaisse that diagnosis
had been known to the Board ah@vould not have é&mredadministrativeseparation under
Article 12.B.12 of the Personnel Manual. In that respect, the Board noted that tlledidauoot
present substantial evidence to support Mr. Chapman'’s claim that he suffered frgsicalph
disability “that renderediim unfit for continued service” or that entitled him to physical
disability processing and a physical disability, rather than admiivgyaeparation. AR302. It
was not persuaded that “compulsive eating disorder” was a medical condition catdenpl
the Weight Manual to justify an abeyance of weight probation. “It is not a phyis@alog
condition and it is not even a defined mental iliness or disorder under the Americhiattisyc
Association’sDiagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edjt{@SM).”
Mr. Chapman’s compulsive eating diagnosas based on regularly overeating at and between
meals and did not qualify as “binge-eating disorder,” which is a disorder noted inlthe DS
AR303.

In addition, the Board determinecdattDr. Baltzer’s letter would not have made a
difference in the Board’s earlier denial of his applicatiDespite his inability to participate in
strenuous activity for several weeks, the Board concluded that under ArtidleoPtBe Weight
Manualhe was still required to achieve weight and/or body fat compliance within his
probationary period, “presumably by adopting a healthy, low calorie diet.” AR304. M doc
had found that weight or body fat loss would be detrimental to his health, as reaquiezd u
Articles 2.E.1 and 3.A.1 of the manual, nor was he found unfit for duty as required for an
abeyance under Article 3.A.2d. Despite his commanding officer's misstatement in a letter on
August 12, 2005, recommending Mr. Chapman’s discharge (“nandsoio cease weight loss
activities . . . is and has always been fit for full duty and fitness exgrdise commanding
officer, the District Commandant, and the Coast Guard Personnel Corhiadihdd access to
his medical records artley knowingly deteninedthat he had no grounds for entitlement to an
abeyance under the regulations. AR305.

The Board issued its Final Decision on Reconsideration on January 22, 2009, denying
Mr. Chapman'’s application for relief.

C. Plaintiff's Claims

Plaintiff makesseveral, in part overlappinglaims that the Board’s actions were not in
accord with Coast Guard regulations and unsupported by substantial evidencée Fargties
that the Board improperly upheld the Coast Guahallare to suspend his probationary period
while he underwent cardiac evaluation. Secbedavers thate should have been processed for
physical disability separation, rather than administrative separation, bexfaars eating
disorder; that the Coast Guard should have referred himefmntent by a psychiatrist or
psychologist in consideration of an eating disorder; and that the referral Nkelyychave
resulted in an abeyance of his probationary period. Third, his separation was unléuwdut @i
specific medical certification théthe proximate cause bfs obesity was excessive voluntary
intake of food or drink, “rather than organic or other similar causes apparentiycotine
member’s control,” per Personnel Manual, Article 12.B.12.a.10. Fourth, Mr. Chapman’s

-10-



involuntary sepat#n, initiatedearlier than the mighoint of his probationary period, and his
commanding officer’s refusal to suspend his probationary period were in retahati reprisal
for communicationgritical of his command Last Mr. Chapman had achieved cdimapce with
body fat standards on September 1, 2005, and therefore his separation was unjustified.

1. Suspension of Probationary Period

Under Article 2.F.3 of the Weight Manual, a unit commanding officer may request
authorization to hold a weight probationary period in abeyance:

If a physician determines a member’s medication or medical
treatrment or condition prevents thersi¢] from losing weight or
body fat at the required rate, the unit commanding officer may
request authorization from CommandéG-WPM-1) to hold the
probationary period in abeyance for a specified period of time.

The Weight Manudiurtherexplains in thenext sentence of treame articlethat such an
abeyance avoids the “unintended consequence of penalizing a member . . . who, through no fault
of his or her own, is battling a medical condition that makes weight loss chall@mnging
impossible.”

The Governmentirges the ourt to decline toeview Plaintiff's claim regarding abeyance
becausehe provision is discretionary, not mandat@awyd*“is like thousands of other routine
personnel decisions regularly made by the services which are variously heldiciaibjesor
beyond the competence the jurisdiction of the courts to wrestle witiVoge v. United States
844 F.2d 776, 780 (Fed. Cir. 1988). The Government maintains that the inquiry whether the
Coast Guard abused its discretion in Mr. Chapman'’s situation is nonjusticiableebéreaeisire
no tests or standards to apply which are within the experience and competencad€idugy |

The Court need not, however, delve on its own into Mr. Chapman’s medical
circumstances in deciding whether there was substantial eviftertbe Boards decision
upholding the Coast Guard’s non-grant of abeyance in his probationary period. The pnedicate i
the regulation for a unit commander’s discretion to seek authorization for suchyan@bes a
determination by a physician that the member caoldose weight or body fat at the required
rate due to his medication or medical treatment or condition. Neither Dr. Badizstr.
Chapman’s cardiologist made such a determination. Nor can it be said that Mr. Glsaj98&
diagnosis of obesity with compulsive ogating constituted a medical determination that he
could not lose weight. In fact, as evidence to the contrary, in all of his eargdt\weobations,
despite that diagnosis, he was able to lose sufficient pounds and/or body fat tcahbiaiance
with the weight guidelines.

The 52 days during which Mr. Chapman was counseled to cease taking his Phentermine
medication and to avoid strenuous exeramest certainly have contributed to the challenge he
faced in losing weight and/or body faiVhether it was sufficiently challenging to warrant this
Court’s upending of his commanding officer’s assessment of his ability and rdsjiyrisi lose
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weight through caloric reduction is indeed the sort of inquiry beyond the court’s Eomoge

The provision of the Weight Manual at issue Heasosuggests the relevance of the question of
“fault” on the part of the service-member. Mr. Chapman was counseled about his weight in the
fall of 2004 when he was first posted to the Mackinaw and was counseled again in March of
2005. His attitude was criticized as “lackadaisical” as late as April 27, 2008. Court will not
secondguess the conduct of his commander in not granting an abeyance of his probationary
period. There was no abuse of discretion and the decision of the Board is supported by
substantial evidence.

2. Eating Disorderand Failure to Refer for Evaluation and Treant

The BCMR Chair did not grant reconsideration, based on two grounds, regarding Mr.
Chapman’s newly raised issue ofeating disordr. AR296-97.First,the Coast Guard was
appropriate in considering his separation administratively because hislsiv@myereating
diagnosis did not qualify him for a physical disability separation. Sebtamdjagnosis was
known to the Board anitl did not entitle him to an abeyance of his probationary periodidar d
entitle him to retention on active duty.

As to his claim of physical disability, the Board found that

the record contains no substantial evidence to support the
applicant’s claim that while serving on active duty he suffered
from a physical disability that rendered him unfit for continued
service ad entitled him to PDES [Physical Disability Evaluation
System] processing and a physical disability separation. The fact
that he had been treated for anxiety and mild depression due to
stressful events in his life is not proof that he was unfit for duty
because of a disqualifying anxiety disorder or major depression.
Compulsive overeating disorder is not a physical disability under
the VASRD [Veterans Administration Schedule for Rating
Disabilities]. Members whose compulsive overeating prevents
them fran meeting Coast Guard weight standards or from
achieving compliance during weight probationary periods are not
processed for disability separations; instead they are, like the
applicant, discharged administratively under Article 12.B.12 of the
Personnel Manual.

AR302 (footnotes omitted).

® The Board also concurred with the Coast Guard’s understandinifp¢haitrase “medical condition” in Article
2.F.3 was not intended to encompass abeyance requests for purely ployglitadres such as “twisted ankles,
pulled muscles, broken bones, etc.,” (and presumably cardiac concermsakieait difficult to exercise. AR303.

" Article 3.A.2 of the Weight Manual is not at issuere because it applies only to members determined to be in a

“not-fit-for-full -duty status.” Mr. Chapman was never determined to be not fit fprddwing the time period in
guestion.
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Mr. Chapman’selatedclaim is that‘the Coast Guarthiled to refer Plaintiffor medical
and psychological evaluation as requibgdaw’ because he had aating disorder Am.
Compl. at 25. He argues that the proper identification and treatment of his disoodét “w
likely have resulted” in suspension of his probationary peitb@t 26, I 153, that therefore his
involuntary separation for weight control failure was gross error andiogusd. at 27, 1 154.

The inquiry whether such referral was required begins with Article 3.kedMeight
Manual, which provides that “[c]ases involving members who display tendencies toward
compulsive overeating or are diagnosed with an eatingagisshall be handled in accordance
with the provisions of the Medical Manual . . ..” Article 5.B.18.d of the Medical Manualrin tur
states, “Individuals suspected of having an eating disorder shall be rdteresdluation by an
Armed Forces psychiasi or Armed Forces clinical psychologist.”

The Government, however, notes that Mr. Chapman did receive treatment in 199% when
Navy physiciarfirst diagnosed his condition as “obesity with compulsive overeating.” AR450.
In addition, in 1998because he was “exceeding military height/weight/body fat standards,” Mr.
Chapmarwas directed to attendnd hesuccessfully completed twoweek outpatient weight
management program at the Addictions Rehaltidih Clinic, Jacksonville Naval Hospital.
AR453-56. The program concluded with a “formal one year continuing care plan.” AR455-56.
Thus, Mr. Chapman did in fact obtain referral and treatment contemporaneous with his
diagnosis®

Despite that past treatment, Mr. Chapman argues that his record of continuddstrugg
with his weight, as evidenced by his weight control probations in 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, and
2005, reflected an ongoing eating disorder. His commander in 2005 should have known to
suspect an eating disorder ahdreforehad an obligation to refer him again for evaluation and
up to six months of renewed treatment.

Plaintiff disputes the finding of the Board that “compulsive eating disorder” is not “the
type of underlying medical condition contemplated in Article 2.F.3 of [the Weightuilhto
justify an abeyancef weight probation.” AR303. In reaching that conclusion, the Board
elaborated, “It is not a physiological condition and it is not even a defined mkm@ss ior
disorder under the American Psychiatric Associatifnagnostic and Statistical Manual of
Mental Disorders, Fourth Editio(DSM), which is relied on by the Coast Guard in identifying
mental illness and disordersld. The Boardurthernoted that the DSM lists “eating disorders
‘not otherwise specified,” which inctles a “bingeesating disorder,” but that Mr. Chapman’s
diagnosis in 1995, in light of his medical questionnaire responses at the time, was based on
“regularly overeating at and between meals,” rather than binge e&inglaintiff argues that
the Boad was “unqualified to diagnos® rule-out medical or psychiatric conditions” and that it
cited no authority to conclude that “compulsive eating disorder is not a physiolamicktian.”
Pl.’s CrossMot. at 29. Mr. Chapman also suggests thatdtgsiptof a diagnosis of an “eating
disorder not otherwise specifiebly a Department of Veterans Affairs physician in March 2007

® In addition, Chapter 5.B.1 of the Medical Manual provides that such tregisrdiscretionary “based on a review
on a review of all factors, including the opinion of experts, protbalil a successful outcome, and the presence of
other physical and mental conditions.” AR297.
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corroborates his claim of the same condition in 20@8.’s Reply to Def.’s Opp’'n to Pl.’s
CrossMot. for J. on the Admin. Record at 14.

The Court finds the decision of the Board affirming Mr. Chapman’s separation despite
his claim of an eating disorder and a failure to refer him for treatmendwpa®rted by
substantial evidence. Mr. Chapman’s diagnosis in 1995 of obesity with compulsreativg
did not constitute a physical disability under the provisions of the Weight Manualg/&i;"°
and the Medical Manual, Article 5.B.18.#lis discharge for weight control failure was therefore
properly considered under the procedures for administrative separation, rather thaheunder
Physical Disability Evaluation Systenfkurthermore, ampulsive overeating is not identified as
an eating disorden Article 5.B.18.d of the Medical Manuallo the extent it would fall within
the caegory of an “Eating disorder NOS” [not otherwise specifisdgArticle 5.B.18.d(2), a
member so diagnosed would be processed administratively pursuant to Article 12.B&2 of t
Personnel Manual.

Mr. Chapman was in fact referred for evaluation andrireat in 1998. He successfully
completed the twaveek program, wherein he wistructed in weight management techniques
to meet physical readiness standards. AR455. On the several subsequent occakiohdim w
was put on weight probation, he was able to achieve compliance with weight standagds. It w
not therefore evident from his past medical record that in 2005 he suffered frormgn eati
disorder. Even if Mr. Chapman’s condition in 2005 should have been identified by his command
as a continuation of his compulsive overeating diagnosis, it was not a defined mezgalal
condition under the DSM. AR303. Mr. Chapman’s medical questionnaire answers in 1995
provided substantial evidence for the Baosufthding that he had not previously been diagnosed
with a “binge-eating disorder.td. Furthermore, while the Medical Manual pides in Article
5.B.18.d that individuals suspected of an eating disatuibe referred for evaluatiothe
same article also establishes ttnaatment is discretionaryT reatmenimaybe authorized in
accordance with the same criteria aotinental conditions.” (emphasis addelt)respect to
treatment, Article 5.B.1 states, “The decision to provide treatment for niegatih conditions
will be based on a review of all factors, including the opinion of experts, probability of a
successful outcome, and the presence of other physical or mental conditionstdigtgoit
was not error thahe Coast Guard did not refer Mr. Chapmanefating disordetreatmenin
2005.

°® Mr. Chapman, however, never soughtbtain any separate medical determination in 2005 of an underlying
condition that would warrant holding his probationary period in abeyaAB298. In addition, VA disability
determinations are based on an evaluation of an individual’s capacity tmfuincthe civilian world, whereas the
military utilizes the ratings schedule to determine fitness for perfgrthim duties of office, grade, and rank.
Childers v. United State81 Fed. Cl. 693, 7156 (2008). The VA ratings accordingly are not bigdam the
service branchd. at 716, and may be inconsistent with a Board’s or service branch’s ilysabiermination.
Williams v. United State91 Fed. CI. 560, 568 (2010).

10 Article 3.E of the Weight Manual is entitled, “Compulsive OvereatindEating Disorders” (emphasis added),
suggesting that the Coast Guard views the conditions to be distinct.
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3. Medical Certification Prior to Discharge

In a related claim of erroMr. Chapmaralleges that his administrative discharge was
unlawful because the Coast Guard failed to obtain a medical certification ormoayfwith
Article 12.B.12.a(10) of the Personnel Manual. That provision authorizes the discharge of a
member for the convenience of the Government due to “[o]besity, provided a medasd offi
certifies a proximate cause of the obesity is excessive voluntakg iotdood or drink, rather
than organic or other similar causes apparently beyond the member’'s coGgeAR22.

The Board noted, however, that on three occasions — April 13, July 22, and August 10,
2005 — doctors certified on Command Referral Fotimag inter aliathere was no “underlying
medical reason causing [Mr. Chapman’s] excess weight,” that it was “saferfo€ fldpman] to
lose the excess weight to comply with established standards,” and that there twaderlying
medical condition thawould make fitness activities detrimental” to his health. AR24,T6ie
Board found that the language of the Command Referral Form was sufficient in pilaee of
language of the certification in the Personnel Manual “because the cedifscatdicate that the
applicant had no underlying medical condition that caused his obesity and the doctors had
counseled him to lose the excess weight by diet and exercise.” AR24.

Mr. Chapman raises a credilgeint that the two forms are intended for different
purposes. The Command Referral Form is intended to clear a member forlassghicluding
diet and exercise, while the medical certificati®nequired to qualify a member for separation
due to obasy. In addition,he argues that the phrase “or similar causes” in the certification
requirement is sufficiently broad so as to encompass psychological or psyauaditions not
necessarily of an organic or physiological natufaus, presumably, Mr. Chapman’s compulsive
overeating diagnosis might be considered a “similar cause” even if did noy@saéifmedical
condition.

The Government argues that the Coast Guard is entitled to deference inptetaten
that the Command Referral Forms met the requirements of the Article 12.B.12.a¢ié3m
certification Def.’s Opp’n at 14. On the other hand, cithdkins v. United State68 F.3d
1317, 1323 (Fed. Cir. 1995), Plaintiff emphasizes that, in cases alleging procedutiangpla
the court simply applies the factsthe regulation in question. Becausa¢hgas no
certification in the preciseords of Article 12.B.12.a(10), Mr. Chapman claims that his
discharge was unlawful.

The Court is not persuaded that sugrexise recitation is required. The medical
certification requirement is prescriptive in thasitlearly the substance of the medical
certification that serves as a final safeguard for the sem@maber prior to an administrative
discharge for weightontrol failure. The necessary inquiry in this regard, then, is whether
indeed thehree Command ReferrabFms in the record constitute a sufficiatiestation that
Mr. Chapman’s weight condition was driven by his voluntary excessive intake of fotmat and
drink and not attributable to a medical or similar cause beyond his control.

The notion of voluntariness was addressdéaweau v. United Stated9 Fed. Cl. 635
(2001). There, former military personwetho weredischarged for failure to meet waigand
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fithess standards challenged the Government’s recoupmenlistmentonuses under
regulations allowing recoupment from members whib Vauntarily failed to complete their
terms of enlistmentThe question whether tlservicemembers’ failure t@omplete their terms
was voluntary depended on whether they were separated “for engaging in ¢batlisctvithin
the control of the servicerember but incompatible with military serviceld. at 638 (quoting
the Director of the Office of Officer/Enlistl Personnel Managemenijhe courtsummarized
the practice of the Department of Defensasnertaining voluntariness: “So long as there is
counseling and an opportunity to overcome deficiencies, and so long as persons witHymedical
diagnosed problems that interfere with weight reduction or maintaining phfisiess may not
be separated faveight control failure or lack of physical fitness, the failure to meet stdsdsr
deemed volitional.”ld. at 639.

Mr. Chapman did receive counseling, over many years, and was afforded masigsc
to overcome his weight deficiencies. The docteine completed the Command Referral Forms
declared that there was no underlying medical conditausing his excess weight. It was
reasonable for the Board to conclude that it was “within his control” to manage gl veei
achieve weight compliance, especially given his record in reaching compliatioe sgveral
past occasions when he had been put on weight probation. It was also reasonable fodthe Boar
to conclude logically that, if his excess weight was not due to an underlying neahdaion
and was not beyond his control, therefore it was due to excessive voluntary intake of food and/or
drink. Accordingly, the Court finds that the essential safeguards of thigceéidin statement
were preserved through the issuance of the three CommandaREems.

4. Retaliation because @fritical Communications

Mr. Chapman characterizes as capricious and unsupported by substantial ehielence t
Board’s decision rejecting thdaim that his discharge was retaliation for his May 16, 2005,
letter noting @ficiencies in the ship’s procurememtdarecordkeeping procedurefr his claim
of harassment, informally made in July and formally submitted on August 4, 2005, to his
commanding officer, and for his August 27, 2005, request for redress of grievadeed\ritle
138 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice. In particular, he argues that thesdd2, 2005,
memorandum of his commanding officer, Captain McGuiness, in support of Mr. Chapman’s
separation was “fictitious” in that it mispresented Mr. Chapman’s record of service and his
fitnessfor weightloss exercise. Mr. Chapman alleges that Captain McGuvesmotivated by
bias, resentment, and hostilitghen he‘rushed Mr. Chapman out the dodréfore the
conclusion of his probationary period (andact prior to the migboint) andrefused to suspend
the discharge process even when Mr. Chapman had demonstrated weight copiptiance
measurements taken on September 1, 2, and 12. He concludes, and argued to the Board, that
Captain McGuiness’s hostijitand determination to discharge Mr. Chapman was in reprisal for
the May and July/August communications.

Because of the Captasnmproper motivation in discharging him, Mr. Chapman argues
that the Bard was mistaken in affording Captain McGuiness the presumption of correct, lawful
and good faith performance of his duties. In addition, he faults the Board for failingdit the
statements of two crewmembers who submitted statements noting ship morale prittdems
commanding officer’s “vendetta” to destroy Mr. Chapman’s career, his havgejedrMr.
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Chapman “from the beginning” because of his weight, and the disparate and harassinent
Mr. Chapman received from his command. Finally, Mr. Chapman assigns as errorritis Boa
disregard of the fact that Captain McGuiness initiated Mr. Chapman’s separathe sam

day that he learned informally of Mr. Chapman’s July 27 informal harassment aampla

It is true that Captain McGuiness was inaccurate in his statement of August ‘¥ tha
no time has [the participant] been medically unfit to participate in a weadhttion exercise
program.” AR76. In a similar vein, Captain McGuiness can fairly be faulted fantiéguity of
his statement that, since Mr. Chapman was put on weight probation, medical profe$sidna
consistently concluded that “there were no grounds to cease weight loggeactild. The
statement is ambiguous because it is not clear whether Captain McGuinessamganeight
loss activities or “all” weightossactivities. Clearly, if he meant thiarmer, the statement is
incorrect becawsDr. Baltzer had in fact counseled Mr. Chapman at the end of May 2005 to
cease both his Phentermine intake as well as exercise in general or at least “stieeroise.
Mr. Chapman was released back to his full fithess regime only as of July 22, 2005.

These two particular statements of Captain McGuirteespnanaccurateand the second
at woistambiguous, do not, however, overcome the propriety of the Board’s extension of the
presumption of correct, lawful, and good faith performance to Mr. Chapman’s superiaast, In f
the Board noted that one crewmate’s statement that Mr. Chapman had been becpisd of
his weight‘from the beginning” of his tenure with the Mackinaw, which was in the fall of 2004,
completely undercuts Mr. Chapmamkegationthathis treatment was due to retaliation for the
communications in May and August, 2005. AR23.

The Board noted that Mr. Chapman had lost only five of 70 pounds at the approximate
mid-point of his probationary period (even accounting for the extension of his probationary
period to December 12, 2009d. The record of his official weigins shows that his weight
was 254 pounds, down from 259 at the onset, on August 1, with a body fat percentage of 30.
AR130. There was demonstrable evidence in thengtthat he was not making the “continuous
and reasonable progress” requitadier Article 2.E.6 of the Weight Manuaht the midpoint,
he should have lost approximately 35 pounds and been down to no more than 29% body fat.
While close on the bodfat gandard, he was clearly not at all close to losing the number of
pounds required at that point. Furthermore, his body fat percentage reduction wasrflyctua
not showing “continuous” progress. It began at 33%, was 30.5% on May 31, 34% on June 20,
30% on June 27, 31% on July 11, 30% on July 19, 31% on July 25, and 30% on Augustsl.
32% on August 10Id. Under Article 2.E.4 of the Weight Manual, Mr. Chapman was still
responsible for meeting minimum acceptable weight standi@sfste the limitations in place
through July 22 on accouatf his cardiac concerndn light of this record and the requirements
of the Weight Manual, there is substantial evidence that it was Mr. Chapmagfg sieuation,
not reprisal for other reasons, that was the foundation for his discharge.

The Court finds that Mr. Chapman has failed to meet his burden of proof that his
discharge was due to retaliation or reprisal for communications critibes gbmmand or for his
complaints of harassing treatment. “Courts cannot substitute their judgmdrdtfof the
military departments when reasonable minds could reach differing conclusions amte s
evidence.”Heisig, 719 F.2d at1156.
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5. Weight Compliance

Mr. Chapman avers that he actually achieved weight compliance as of September 1,
2005, and that his subsequent separation effective September 27, 200&rafaseunlawful.
The record includes emails reporting measurements of Mr. Chapman taken on Septembe
September 2, and September 12, each reporting body fat compositions below thealfs# go
weight compliance. AR281, 282, 283. The salient aspect of these measurements, however, is
that they were taken outside of Mr. Chapman’s direct command, albeit by Coast{pérsammnel
at other stations or hospital facilities.

The measurementaken on September 1 are only in the record in the form of an email
from Mr. Chapman himself to his command reporting that “HS1 Gomez” of the Coast Guard
Station Grand Haven measured Mr. Chapman’s weight as 245 and his body fat as 24%. Mr.
Chapman acknowlerd the measurements as “informaAR281. The second measurement in
guestion was taken on September 2 by “BM2 Ryan DeShazo” of the Coast Guard Station
Muskegon. AR 282. Mr. DeShazo’s email to Mr. Chapman bears the title, “Unofficial
Measurements as PSKC Chapman’s Request,” and reports weight of 244 %2 pounds and body
fat of 24%. Id. On September 12, Christopher Farrell of the U.S. Naval Hospital Great Lakes
reported by email to Mr. Chapman’s command that Mr. Farrell had measured Mr. @hatpma
23% body fat (no indication of weight). AR283.

Mr. Chapman argues that the presumption that military officials perform theis dutie
correctly, laviully, and in good faith applies with equal force to the Coast Guard personnel
outside of Mr. Chapman’s command who measured him informally and found him within the
body fat guidelines. The Government responds that Mr. Chapman’s command was not required
to consider the unofficial, outside of chainedmmand measurements, that there was no
evidence that they wereliable, and that nothing in the Weight Manual or the Personnel Manual
required consideration of nafficial measurements.

Notwithstanding the unofficial measuremenitsresponse to Mr. Chapman’s complaints,
his command, pursuant to Article 3.C.2 of the Weight Manual, authorizing the Commandant to
make procedural determinations in “unique circumstances” where “special catisiuer
warranted,” had him undergo “hydrostatic” weight testing at a private airCleveland, Ohio.

This test showed a body fat percentage of 37.7%. AR285. Mr. Chapman complains, however,
that the Weight Manual only authorizes body fat measurement by tape measucethe
abdomen, not hydrostatic testing.

In its November 2, 2006, Final Decision, the Board notednibre usual tape measure
standard:

Moreover, while weight is determined on a simple scale, body fat
is normally determined by a health specialist using a tape measure
around a member’s neck and abdomen, which could result in more
variation. The Board notes that all but one (June 20, 2005) of the
measurements cited in the chart . . . were made by the same health
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specialist at the applicant’'s command, which would likely provide
some consistency in the technique used.

AR26.

The Board recognized that Mr. @bman’s hydrostatic testing was authorized, that it
“clearly validated the CO’s contention that the applicant was not makirgpahle and
consistent progress during probation,” and that, in any event, the decision on Mr. Clapman’
discharge was basedtron the hydrostatic testing Septembebut on the failure of his progress
near the miepoint of his probation in August. The Board further noted that the discharge orders
for Mr. Chapman were issued on August 30, prior to the hydrostatic testing and priothieéhe
unofficial measurements outside his chain of command that he relies upon tdheliaia t
achieved weight compliance.

Given that the Weight Manual and the Personnel Manual include no requirements that the
Coast Guard must heed unofficial, outside of chainemfimand weight measurements, the
Court does not find that the Board’s decision was arbitrary and capricious inrgdgferthe
Coast Guard’s disregard of those proffered measurements. In addition, thosemeatsur
were taken aéir Mr. Chapman'’s discharge orders had been issued and only a few weeks before
the September 27 date on which his discharge was effective. The results afrtstatic
testing on September 13 merely added strength to his command’s finding that hisgpabgine
probation mid-point was not reasonable and continuous.

Mr. Chapman would have the Court reverse the Board and the Coast Guard on a finding
that the Coast Guard’s treatment of Mr. Chapman “shocks the conscience.” &3ssMit. at
46. While the consequences for him were severe, the Court does not find that the Board’s
decision upholding the Coast Guard’s discharigelr. Chapman for weight control failure was
lacking substantial evidence or was arbitrary or capricious.

V. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, the Court grants judgment upon the administrativie recor
favor of Defendant and denies Plaintiff's crasetion for the sameThe Clerk is directed to
enter judgment accordingly.

s/ Edward J. Damich
EDWARD J. DAMICH
Judge
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